IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1800

RAMIRO COMPANIONI, JR.,

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF TAMPA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

DOMINIC O. FARIELLO, P.A. 609 W. De Leon Street Tampa, Florida 33606 BRENNAN HOLDEN & KAVOUKLIS, P.A.115 South Newport AvenueTampa, Florida 33606

-and-

PODHURST ORSECK, P.A.25 West Flagler Street, Suite 800Miami, Florida 33130(305) 358-2800 / Fax (305) 358-2382

BY: JOEL D. EATON Fla. Bar No. 203513

II.	ISSUE ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW
	WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT A TRIAL COURT HAS GREATER AUTHORITY THAN AN APPELLATE COURT TO ORDER A NEW TRIAL FOR AN ERROR THAT WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW DURING TRIAL.
III.	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
IV.	ARGUMENT
V.	CONCLUSION17
	CERTIFICATE OF COMPLIANCE
	CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF CASES

<i>Affolter</i> v. <i>Virginia Key Marina</i> , 601 So. 2d 1296 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992)13
<i>Aills v. Boemi</i> , case no. SC08-2087 (Fla. Feb. 25, 2010)
<i>Akin</i> v. <i>State</i> , 86 Fla. 564, 98 So. 609 (1923)6
Anderson v. Watson, 559 So. 2d 654 (Fla. 2d DCA 1990)14
Bishop v. Watson, 367 So. 2d 1073 (Fla. 3d DCA 1979)13
<i>Brumage</i> v. <i>Plummer</i> , 502 So. 2d 966 (Fla. 3d DCA 1987)13
Bulkmatic Transport Co. v. Taylor, 860 So. 2d 436 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003)12
<i>Cameron</i> v. <i>Sconiers</i> , 393 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981)
<i>Celentano</i> v. <i>Banker</i> , 728 So. 2d 244 (Fla. 4th DCA 1998)13
<i>Clark</i> v. <i>State</i> , 363 So. 2d 331 (Fla. 1978)7
<i>Companioni</i> v. <i>City of Tampa</i> , 958 So. 2d 404 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)1

Conklin Shows, Inc. v. Llanes, 733 So. 2d 595 (Fla. 3d DCA 1999)13
County of Volusia v. Niles, 445 So. 2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984)12
<i>Cronin</i> v. <i>Kitler</i> , 485 So. 2d 440 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)14
<i>Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc.</i> v. <i>Green</i> , 468 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1985)
<i>Eichelkraut</i> v. <i>Kash n' Karry Food Stores, Inc.,</i> 644 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)7, 14, 16
<i>Engle</i> v. <i>Liggett Group, Inc.</i> , 945 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 2006)16
Gatlin v. Jacobs Construction Co., 218 So. 2d 188 (Fla. 4th DCA 1969)13, 15
<i>Goutis</i> v. <i>Express Transport, Inc.</i> , 699 So. 2d 757 (Fla. 4th DCA 1997)13, 16
Gregory v. Seaboard System Railroad, Inc., 484 So. 2d 35 (Fla. 2d DCA 1986)14
Hagan v. Sun Bank of Mid-Fla., N.A., 666 So. 2d 580 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)7, 13-14, 15, 16, 17
<i>Hargrove</i> v. <i>CSX Transportation, Inc.</i> , 631 So. 2d 345 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994)10, 12, 14
<i>Harlan Bakeries, Inc.</i> v. <i>Snow,</i> 884 So. 2d 336 (Fla. 2d DCA 2004)13
Hasegawa v. Anderson, 742 So. 2d 504 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999)

<i>Holton</i> v. <i>State</i> , 573 So. 2d 284 (Fla. 1991)7
Honda Motor Co., Ltd. v. Marcus, 440 So. 2d 373 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983)
Hutchinson Island Club Condominium Ass'n, Inc. v. DeGraw, 774 So. 2d 37 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)12
<i>Kmart Corp.</i> v. <i>Hayes</i> , 707 So. 2d 957 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998)11, 13
Lee v. Oceans Casino Cruises, Inc., 983 So. 2d 791 (Fla. 3d DCA 2008)12
<i>Lowe Inv. Corp.</i> v. <i>Clemente</i> , 685 So. 2d 84 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996)10
Lucas v. Mast, 758 So. 2d 1194 (Fla. 3d DCA 2000) 12-13
<i>Martinez</i> v. <i>Poly-Ply Corp.</i> , 883 So. 2d 327 (Fla. 3d DCA 2001)12
<i>Mercury Ins. Co. of Fla.</i> v. <i>Moreta</i> , 957 So. 2d 1242 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007)
Millar Elevator Service Co. v. McGowan, 819 So. 2d 145 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)10, 13
Murphy v. Int'l Robotic Systems, Inc., 766 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000)
<i>Nadler</i> v. <i>Home Ins. Co.</i> , 339 So. 2d 280 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976)

Nelson v. Reliance Ins. Co., 368 So. 2d 361 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978)
Newton v. So. Fla. Baptist Hospital, 614 So. 2d 1195 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993)7, 8
<i>Nigro</i> v. <i>Brady</i> , 731 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 4th DCA 1999)15, 16
Nissan Motor Corp. in U.S.A. v. Padilla, 545 So. 2d 274 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)
Papcun v. Piggy Bag Discount Souvenirs, Food & Gas Corp., 472 So. 2d 880 (Fla. 5th DCA 1985)
Platz v. Auto Recycling and Repair, Inc., 795 So. 2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)
Publix Super Markets, Inc. v. Griffin, 837 So. 2d 1139 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)13
Rety v. Green, 546 So. 2d 410 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)13
<i>Robbins</i> v. <i>Graham</i> , 404 So. 2d 769 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981)9, 13
<i>Robinson</i> v. <i>Bucci</i> , 828 So. 2d 478 (Fla. 2d DCA 2002)10, 13
<i>Robinson</i> v. <i>State</i> , 989 So. 2d 747 (Fla. 2d DCA 2008)15, 16
Rose's Stores, Inc. v. Mason, 338 So. 2d 1323 (Fla. 4th DCA 1976)
<i>Roundtree</i> v. <i>State</i> , 362 So. 2d 1347 (Fla. 1978)

Sanchez v. Bengochea, 573 So. 2d 992 (Fla. 3d DCA 1991)13
Saxon v. Chacon, 539 So. 2d 11 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989)9, 11, 13
Sears Roebuck & Co. v. Jackson, 433 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983) 11, 13, 16
<i>Simpson</i> v. <i>State</i> , 418 So. 2d 984 (Fla. 1982)7
<i>State</i> v. <i>Benton</i> , 662 So. 2d 1364 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)15
<i>State</i> v. <i>Cameron</i> , 837 So. 2d 1111 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003)15
<i>State</i> v. <i>Fritz</i> , 652 So. 2d 1243 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995)14, 15
<i>Walt Disney World Co.</i> v. <i>Althouse</i> , 427 So. 2d 1135 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983)
Wasden v. Seaboard Coast Line Railroad Co., 474 So. 2d 825 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985)14, 16
<i>Zuniga</i> v. <i>Eisenger</i> , 954 So. 2d 634 (Fla. 3d DCA 1007)

I. STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On November 22, 1996, Ramiro Companioni, Jr., was riding his motorcycle eastbound on Hillsborough Avenue in Tampa. A water department truck owned and operated by the City of Tampa made a multiple lane change into Mr. Companioni's lane, causing the motorcycle to collide with a rear corner of the truck. Mr. Companioni suffered numerous severe and permanent injuries (R. 8-28).^{1/} The case was tried to a jury in March, 2004, before The Honorable Herbert J. Baumann, Jr. (T. 1 et seq.). The jury returned a verdict finding both the City of Tampa and Mr. Companioni negligent; apportioning the blame 90% to the City and to Mr. Companioni; and assessing Mr. Companioni's damages at 10% \$19,932,000.00 (R. 272-73; T. 570-71). The trial court granted the City's motion for new trial on a single ground (R. 1176-77). The new trial order was thereafter reversed by the district court and the cause was remanded for consideration of the remaining grounds advanced in the motion for new trial. Companioni v. City of Tampa, 958 So.2d 404 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007).

On remand, the trial court entered an "Order Denying Defendant's Motion for New Trial and Motion for Remittitur" (R. 1582-85). The trial court stated that Mr. Companioni's verdict was not against the manifest weight of the evidence and that the damages awarded by the jury were not excessive. And in the portion of the

 $[\]frac{1}{2}$ R.: Record on appeal.

T.: Separately paginated transcript of trial testimony at R. 520-1175.

order pertinent to the issue presently before the Court, the trial court stated:

3. At the start of the trial. Defendant moved for a mistrial based on the misconduct of Plaintiff's counsel during voir dire, which motion the Court denied. Throughout the remainder of the trial proceedings, Plaintiff's counsel persisted in misconduct that, if considered cumulatively, would have provided the Court with a basis upon which to grant a mistrial. However, Defendant did not renew its motion for mistrial in response to the new instances of misconduct exhibited by Plaintiff's counsel. Thus, even though there was sufficient misconduct upon which the Court could have granted a mistrial during the trial, Defendant did not contemporaneously ask for a mistrial. In response to Defendant's present request for a new trial, the Court cannot say that the conduct of Plaintiff's trial counsel was such that it damaged "the fairness of the trial" to the extent that "it would undermine the public's confidence in the judicial system." See Hasegawa v. Anderson, 742 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999). Additionally, because there was evidence to support the jury's verdict, the attorney misconduct by itself is not a sufficient basis to grant Defendant's motion for new trial. See generally, Platz v. Auto Recycling and Repair, Inc., 795 So.2d 1025 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001). In sum, while it is the Court's opinion that the cumulative conduct of Plaintiff's counsel was so pervasive and prejudicial that the City of Tampa's right to a fair trial was impaired, it did not rise to a level that the public confidence in the judicial system would be undermined since there was adequate evidence to support the verdict.

(R. 1583-84; footnotes omitted).

The trial court supported its conclusion that plaintiff's counsel had engaged in misconduct with a footnote containing a number of references to various pages in the trial transcript. Examination of those pages will reveal that defendant's counsel's complaints were somewhat hyperbolic and that very little out of the ordinary course of a contentious trial actually occurred, but the trial court's conclusion was a discretionary one and it is not particularly pertinent to the issue presently before the Court, so we will not belabor the point. What is pertinent, however, is that there were no objections to many of the things identified as misconduct by the trial court; that the objections that were interposed were all sustained; and that, although the trial court all but invited defendant's counsel to move for a mistrial on at least four separate occasions, counsel deliberately declined to do so:

[1] THE COURT: Are you moving for a mistrial?

MR. TERRY [defendant's counsel]: Your Honor, I --

MR. STAHL [plaintiff's counsel]: May I say something, please?

THE COURT: I want to hear if he's moving for a mistrial first.

MR. STAHL: Yes, Your Honor.

MR. TERRY: No, Your Honor, I'm not moving for a mistrial at this time because I don't think that my client has been so prejudiced that this cannot be remedied. But I just want [it] to be emphasized that this is a case involving where claims for damages are going to be millions of dollars.

• • • •

[2] THE COURT: ... And, Mr. Terry, I take it that there is no motion at this point for a mistrial, correct?

MR. TERRY: No.

• • • •

MR. TERRY: In fairness to my client who is spending a lot of money to try this case, I'm not going to ask for a mistrial at this time.

• • • •

[3] THE COURT: Do you have a motion?

MR. TERRY: No, I have no motion.

THE COURT: All right.

MR. TERRY: But it's getting cumulative, and I want it on the record.

• • • •

[4] THE COURT: Yes, well, I sustained. So -- and you have no other motions I take it, Mr. Terry?

MR. TERRY: No, Your Honor.

(T. 238, 245, 268, 456).

The City perfected a timely appeal to the District Court of Appeal, Second District (R. 1600-07). To the extent pertinent here, the City recognized in both its initial brief and in its reply brief that, by failing to move for a mistrial after its

objections had been sustained, it had not properly preserved the issue of counsel's misconduct for further review -- and that it therefore needed to demonstrate that the misconduct amounted to "fundamental error." It argued that, as a matter of law, counsel's misconduct amounted to fundamental error because it damaged the fairness of the trial to the extent that public confidence in the judicial system would be undermined. The district court did not endorse this argument. Rather, it reversed Mr. Companioni's judgment and remanded for a new trial on a ground that had not been raised or addressed by the parties.

Following the only two decisions we have been able to find in the long history of this state's jurisprudence, the district court held that, once an objection has been sustained, a motion for mistrial must be made "in order to preserve the issue for appellate review," but "a motion for mistrial is not a prerequisite to moving for a new trial" (slip opinion, p. 2). And it concluded as follows:

> Here, the trial court erroneously concluded that the City had not preserved its objections to opposing counsel's misconduct. Consequently, it applied the wrong standard when it evaluated the City's motion for a new trial. Under the correct standard, the trial court would not need to consider whether counsel's conduct was so egregious that failure to grant a new trial would undermine the public's confidence in the justice system. Rather, it only needed to consider whether opposing counsel's misconduct deprived the City of a fair trial. Having found that it did, the trial court should have granted the City's motion. Accordingly, we reverse and remand for a new trial.

(Slip opinion, p. 3).

In essence, the district court concluded that, after trial, a trial court has greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an error that was not properly preserved for further review. As we will demonstrate in the argument that follows, this conclusion conflicts with scores of decisions from this Court, from other district courts of appeal -- indeed, from decisions of the Second District itself -- and because it permits a losing litigant to sandbag the prevailing party with a contention waived during trial and raised for the first time after trial, we are confident that it is simply wrong.

II. ISSUE ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT A TRIAL COURT HAS GREATER AUTHORITY THAN AN APPELLATE COURT TO ORDER A NEW TRIAL FOR AN ERROR THAT WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW DURING TRIAL.

III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Our argument will be short enough that to summarize it here would amount to little more than unnecessary repetition, at the Court's expense. Respectfully requesting the Court's indulgence, we turn directly to the merits.

IV. ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN CONCLUDING THAT A TRIAL COURT HAS GREATER AUTHORITY THAN AN APPELLATE

COURT TO ORDER A NEW TRIAL FOR AN ERROR THAT WAS NOT PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW DURING TRIAL.

The "contemporaneous objection requirement" has long been a staple of Florida's jurisprudence. *See Aills v. Boemi*, case no. SC08-2087 (Fla. Feb. 25, 2010) (and decisions cited therein); *Akin v. State*, 86 Fla. 564, 98 So. 609 (1923). *See generally Murphy v. Int'l Robotic Systems, Inc.*, 766 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 2000). If a contemporaneous objection is overruled, the point has been preserved for further review; if the objection is sustained, the objecting party has obtained all that he has requested, and more is required:

[W]hat happens if there is a contemporaneous objection and the trial court finds that there has been an improper comment and sustains the defendant's objection. In that event, the rule is also clear. The defendant must move for mistrial if he wishes to preserve his objection, and he will not be allowed to await the outcome of the trial with the expectation that, if he is found guilty, his conviction will be automatically reversed.

Simpson v. State, 418 So.2d 984, 986 (Fla. 1982). Accord Clark v. State, 363 So.2d 331, 335 (Fla. 1978); Roundtree v. State, 362 So.2d 1347, 1348 (Fla. 1978); Holton v. State, 573 So.2d 284, 288 n. 3 (Fla. 1991).

Because that point is settled in this Court, it is settled everywhere, even in the Second District. *See, e.g., Hasegawa v. Anderson*, 742 So.2d 504, 506 (Fla. 2d DCA 1999); *Eichelkraut v. Kash n' Karry Food Stores, Inc.*, 644 So.2d 90, 92 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); *Newton v. So. Fla. Baptist Hospital*, 614 So.2d 1195, 1196

(Fla. 2d DCA 1993); *Hagan v. Sun Bank of Mid-Fla., N.A.*, 666 So.2d 580, 587-88 (Fla. 2d DCA 1996); *Cameron v. Sconiers*, 393 So.2d 11, 12 (Fla. 5th DCA 1981).

At issue in *Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. v. Green*, 468 So.2d 908 (Fla. 1985), was whether trial courts have the authority to reserve ruling on a motion for mistrial until after the jury returns a verdict. This Court held that trial courts do have that authority. The Court was careful to note, however, that it was not relaxing the contemporaneous objection requirement:

We refuse to change the general procedure that must be followed in order for a party to preserve a motion for a mistrial for appellate review. Unless the improper argument constitutes a fundamental error, a motion for mistrial must be made "at the time the improper comment was made." *Clark v. State*, 363 So.2d 331 (Fla. 1978).

468 So.2d at 910.

In the instant case, all the objections made by the City's counsel were sustained; the trial court all but invited motions for mistrial; and counsel deliberately declined to request a mistrial, preferring to go to verdict on the state of the record as it existed. On that state of the record, counsel's objections were not preserved for further review, and unless plaintiff's counsel's conduct amounted to fundamental error, an appellate court could not and would not reverse and order a new trial. That point is also thoroughly settled. *See, e. g., Aills v. Boemi*, case no. SC08-2087 (Fla. Feb. 25, 2010) (and decisions cited therein);

Murphy v. Int'l Robotic Systems, Inc., 766 So.2d 1010 (Fla. 2000); *Mercury Ins. Co. of Fla. v. Moreta*, 957 So.2d 1242 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007); *Newton v. So. Fla. Baptist Hospital*, 614 So.2d 1195 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993); *Zuniga v. Eisenger*, 954 So.2d 634 (Fla. 3d DCA 1007); *Nissan Motor Corp. in U.S.A. v. Padilla*, 545 So.2d 274 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989); *Honda Motor Co., Ltd. v. Marcus*, 440 So.2d 373 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); *Nelson v. Reliance Ins. Co.*, 368 So.2d 361 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978); *Nadler v. Home Ins. Co.*, 339 So.2d 280 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976).

A principal reason for this thoroughly settled rule is both compelling and obvious, and has often been expressed with colorful colloquialisms designed to bring home the point with some force. *Walt Disney World Co. v. Althouse*, 427 So.2d 1135, 1136 (Fla. 5th DCA 1983), is representative:

Had counsel for Althouse requested a mistrial when the juror-witness contact was discovered, either before or after Farina testified, perhaps he would have been entitled to one. However, counsel for Althouse elected to let the trial proceed. This decision must be given its due conse-quences. Althouse cannot be allowed to proceed on a "heads I win; tails you lose" basis.

A similar sentiment is expressed in Nissan Motor Corp. in U.S.A. v. Padilla,

545 So.2d 274, 276 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989):

The reason for the contemporaneous motion requirement is to preclude an attorney from sandbagging the court and his opponent by postponing his motion in belief that the outcome will be favorable, reserving an option to make the motion for the first time after the trial when the preliminary assessment has proved wrong. . . . By waiting for the jury to return a verdict before complaining of the improper judge-jury contact, Nissan waived its right to object.

Similar sentiments are contained in a number of additional decisions. See, e. g., Saxon v. Chacon, 539 So.2d 11, 12 (Fla. 3d DCA 1989) (where counsel declined to move for a mistrial after trial court all but invited him to do so, "having gambled and lost when the jury returned an adverse verdict, he cannot now be heard to ask belatedly for a new trial"); Cameron v. Sconiers, 393 So.2d 11, 12 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (to allow a party to complain for the first time after verdict would be to give him an inappropriate "second bite at the apple"); Robbins v. Graham, 404 So.2d 769, 771 (Fla. 4th DCA 1981) (to allow a party to raise a complaint for the first time after trial would give the party "an unearned additional bite at the apple"); Nadler v. Home Ins. Co., 339 So.2d 280, 282 (Fla. 3d DCA 1976) (counsel cannot be permitted "to adopt a 'wait and see' attitude" concerning irregularities at trial); Nelson v. Reliance Ins. Co., 368 So.2d 361, 362 (Fla. 4th DCA 1978) ("The failure to object constitutes intentional trial tactics, mistakes of which are not to be corrected on appeal simply because they backfire").

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