IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC09-1800

RAMIRO COMPANIONI, JR.

Petitioner,

vs.

CITY OF TAMPA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, SECOND DISTRICT

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

Richard M. Zabak Fla. Bar No. 273406 Monterrey Campbell Fla. Bar No. 011387 Brian K. Oblow Fla. Bar No. 228590 GrayRobinson, P.A. Post Office Box 3324 Tampa, Florida 33601-3324

AND

Jerry M. Gewirtz Florida Bar No. 843865 Chief Assistant City Attorney City of Tampa 5th Floor, City Hall 315 E. Kennedy Blvd. Tampa, Florida 33602

Attorneys for Respondent

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Mr. Companioni has framed the sole issue on review as whether a trial court has greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an unpreserved error. This Court has unequivocally decided that issue in <u>Murphy</u>. There, this Court held that even where, unlike this case, there had been no objections to counsel misconduct, a trial court could consider such misconduct for the first time

⁹ In its order denying the City's motion for new trial, the trial court stated that each expert presented testimony on how the accident occurred, and cited excerpts from the transcript of the trial proceedings. The City respectfully suggests that the trial court was incorrect as to Mr. Payne, and that the transcript excerpts it cited (T-260-261, 281), do not reflect any explanation by Mr. Payne regarding how the accident happened but, rather, an attempt by Mr. Payne to "prebut" certain aspects of Dr. Benedict's anticipated testimony.

on a motion for new trial upon a showing that the failure to grant a new trial would undermine the public's confidence in the judicial system. On the other hand, <u>Murphy</u> also holds that an appellate court may <u>not</u> consider unobjected-to misconduct for the first time on appeal.

In reality, Mr. Companioni has challenged the Second District Court of Appeal's decision for recognizing a standard different from <u>Murphy</u> – whether a party was deprived of a fair trial – where that party <u>did</u> object to counsel misconduct. The City asserts that the Second District's decision was correct. Alternatively, the City asserts that the record demonstrates that even under the more stringent <u>Murphy</u> standard, it was entitled to a new trial.

Finally, in addition to the counsel misconduct issue, the record demonstrates that the City would be entitled to a new trial for reasons other than that ruled upon by the Second District Court of Appeal including, primarily, the fact that Mr. Companioni's evidence could not support the verdict. This Court has previously observed that once it acquires conflict jurisdiction, it has the discretion to resolve other properly raised issues as well.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARD OF REVIEW

Because Mr. Companioni's sole issue on review involves a pure issue of law, the standard of review on that issue is <u>de novo</u>. <u>See Laboratory Corporation</u> <u>of America v. McKown</u>, 829 So. 2d 311, 313 (Fla. 5th DCA 2002).

If this Court undertakes to review the other bases for the trial court's denial of the City's motion for new trial which the City included in its briefs below but which were not addressed by the Second District Court of Appeal, an abuse of discretion standard would apply. <u>See Greens To You, Inc. v. Gavelek</u>, 967 So. 2d 318, 320 (Fla. 3d DCA 2007) (a trial court's ruling on a motion for new trial implicates an abuse of discretion standard). When an order on review is an order granting a new trial, it takes an even greater showing of error for reversal. <u>Id</u>. Here, however, the order on review is an order denying a motion for a new trial.

The City notes that historically, when a motion for new trial is based on evidentiary issues, the abuse of discretion standard is broadly applied as the trial court is in the best position to review the evidence received at trial. <u>See Krolick v.</u> <u>Monroe</u>, 909 So. 2d 910, 913 (Fla. 2d DCA 2005). When the error is an error of law, however, application of the standard is much more limited because the reviewing court is on a more equal footing with the trial court. <u>Id</u>. As this brief will illustrate, the facts upon which the City relies are substantiated by the cold

record in this case and do not involve weighing the credibility of witnesses. Therefore, the City respectfully suggests that the abuse of discretion standard should be applied in a restricted manner with regard to the sufficiency of the evidence.

II. THE SECOND DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL CORRECTLY DETERMINED THAT THE FUNDAMENTAL ERROR STANDARD AS DESCRIBED IN <u>MURPHY</u> DOES NOT APPLY WHERE THE AGGRIEVED PARTY OBJECTED TO OPPOSING COUNSEL'S MISCONDUCT.

In his brief, Mr. Companioni has attempted to frame the sole issue on this conflict review as whether the Second District Court of Appeal erred in concluding that a trial court has greater authority than an appellate court to order a new trial for an error that was not properly preserved for review during trial. The City respectfully suggests that this issue already has been settled by this Court in <u>Murphy v. International Robotics Systems, Inc.</u>, 766 So. 2d 1010 (Fla. 2000), probably the single most significant case in connection with this proceeding. There, this Court concluded that the trial court does, indeed, have greater authority to order a new trial for improper closing argument.¹⁰ Specifically, this Court expressly held that a trial court may consider unobjected-to improper closing

¹⁰ Although <u>Murphy</u> deals with improper closing arguments, neither party has contended that it would not apply to misconduct which takes place during other phases of a trial.

arguments for the first time on a motion for new trial but that absent such a motion, an appellate court may not do so. <u>Id.</u> at 1028.

The proposition that a trial court has greater authority to provide certain relief is not remarkable. In a variety of circumstances, including many circumstances implicated by an order on a motion for new trial, a trial court's ruling may only be reversed on appeal for an abuse of discretion. As this Court recognized in <u>Murphy</u>, this is required because the trial judge has a "superior vantage point" to determine the propriety and potential impact of allegedly improper conduct. <u>Id</u>. at 1031.

In his brief, Mr. Companioni also suggests that the Second District Court of Appeal somehow departed from, in his words, a "sea of contrary authority." In doing so, he has conflated at least three different concepts: (a) the contemporaneous objection requirement; (b) preservation of grounds for appeal; and, (c) preservation of grounds for a new trial. Here, because the City did contemporaneously object to opposing counsel's misconduct, the case law discussing the need for and salutory purpose of the contemporaneous objection requirement does not directly bear upon the resolution of the issues now before this Court. Similarly, this case does not involve an issue raised for the first time on appeal. The issue here is the extent to which the City adequately preserved the

matter of counsel misconduct for consideration by the trial court on a motion for new trial.

An examination of the 59 cases cited, often within "string" cites, in Mr. Companioni's brief reflects that the substantial majority of the cases do not even involve circumstances present here, i.e., a trial court's consideration of a motion for new trial where contemporaneous objections were interposed to an opposing Furthermore, the vast majority of cases cited by Mr. counsel's misconduct. Companioni pre-date the Murphy opinion in which this Court reconciled prior case law regarding the applicable standards at the trial and appellate stages of a case for cases involving unobjected-to improper conduct by counsel. Also, several of the cases he has cited are criminal cases which involve different policy considerations and were therefore expressly excluded from the scope of the Murphy decision. 766 So. 2d at 1013, n.2. In addition, a number of cases cited by Mr. Companioni do not involve counsel misconduct at all but, rather, address such matters as the improper admission of prejudicial testimony and improper verdict forms or jury instructions.

Mr. Companioni appears to rely primarily upon four cases: <u>Sears Roebuck</u> <u>& Co. v. Jackson</u>, 433 So. 2d 1319 (Fla. 3d DCA 1983); <u>County of Volusia v.</u> <u>Niles</u>, 445 So. 2d 1043 (Fla. 5th DCA 1984); <u>Eichelkraut v. Kash N' Karry Food</u> <u>Stores, Inc.</u>, 644 So. 2d 90 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994); and, <u>State v. Fritz</u>, 652 So. 2d

1243 (Fla. 5th DCA 1995). None of these cases support Mr. Companioni's argument.

In <u>Sears</u>, unlike this case, the Third District Court of Appeal addressed unobjected-to comments of counsel. Moreover, because there were no contemporaneous objections, the court evaluated whether the comments constituted fundamental error which it described in part as comments "so inflammatory as to extinguish the plaintiffs' right to a fair trial" <u>Id</u>. at 1321. It did not require an additional finding that the error so damaged the fairness of the trial that the public's interest in our system of justice required a new trial.

<u>Niles</u> did not involve improper conduct by opposing counsel but instead, addressed the concept of "induced error." 445 So. 2d at 1048. The City respectfully suggests that the <u>Niles</u> case does not add to Mr. Companioni's argument. Indeed, in his brief, Mr. Companioni merely repeated a quotation from <u>Niles</u> which had previously appeared in <u>Sears</u>.

In <u>Eichelkraut</u>, the Second District Court of Appeal recognized that a new trial may be based on unobjected-to comments in certain limited circumstances but again did not utilize the fundamental error formulation later articulated by this Court in <u>Murphy</u>. Instead, the court stated that a new trial may be based on unobjected-to misconduct where such conduct was "so pervasive, inflammatory,

and prejudicial as to preclude the jury's rational consideration of the case." 644 So. 2d at 93.

In <u>Fritz</u>, another pre-<u>Murphy</u> case, the Fifth District Court of Appeal similarly did not apply the <u>Murphy</u> fundamental error formula in reviewing a criminal case which, in any event, would have been excluded from the scope the later Murphy decision. 766 So. 2d at 1013, n.2.

In short, much if not most of Mr. Companioni's analysis is based on pre-<u>Murphy</u> case law. Some of those cases apply a fundamental error definition similar to what the trial court found in this case, i.e., the impairment of a party's right to a fair trial. Furthermore, Mr. Companioni's suggestion that <u>Murphy</u> undermines the City's position in this case is plainly wrong given that, unlike this case, <u>Murphy</u> expressly addressed unobjected-to arguments.

In <u>Murphy</u>, this Court canvassed and analyzed decisions from various federal and state jurisdictions regarding the issue of improper, unobjected-to closing arguments. This Court observed that courts from other jurisdictions, particularly state courts, have adopted varied approaches. 766 So. 2d at 1025. Similarly, there appears to be a split of authority with regard to the specific issue implicated here – the applicable standard governing a motion for new trial based on improper conduct where contemporaneous objections but not a motion for mistrial had been interposed. <u>Compare Bisset v. Village of Lemont</u>, 457 N.E. 2d

138, 140-41 (Ill. App. 1983) (plaintiff's timely objections to improper conduct were sufficient to preserve the error for purposes of seeking a new trial) with <u>Steele v. Evenflo Company, Inc.</u>, 147 S.W. 3d 781, 792 (Mo. App. 2004) (after objections were sustained, motion for mistrial was required to preserve issue for subsequent request for new trial.)

This Court also discussed in Murphy the policy issues underlying the standard of review for unobjected to improper arguments. The Court cited several policy concerns weighing against an exception to the contemporaneous objection requirement including: (1) objections can deter opposing counsel from making further improper arguments thus preventing cumulative improper conduct; (2) the contemporaneous objection requirement prevents counsel from engaging in "sandbagging" tactics; (3) objections provide the trial judge who is in the best position to evaluate an improper argument with the optimal opportunity to stop such argument when it is made; and (4) objections help prevent confusion that can stem from appellate courts making "cold record" decisions regarding improper closing arguments. 766 So. 2d at 1026. Juxtaposed against the foregoing policy concerns is the "overarching concern that a litigant receive a fair trial and that our system operate so as to deserve public trust and confidence." Id.

Here, of course, the policy considerations underlying the contemporaneous objection requirement were satisfied because contemporaneous objections were, in

fact, made. The City further suggests that imposing the <u>Murphy</u> standard to motions for new trial unless each contemporaneous objection is coupled with a motion for mistrial would not significantly enhance those policy benefits.

Mr. Companioni's main criticism of the Second District's view that the trial court's finding that the City had been deprived of a fair trial supported the City's right to a new trial appears to be that the Second District's holding allowed the City to take a "wait and see" approach. The City respectfully suggests that, in fact, at least since this Court's decision in Ed Ricke, such an approach has been found acceptable. See Ed Ricke & Sons, Inc. v. Greene, 468 So. 2d 908 (Fla. 1985). There, this Court held that trial courts have the authority to reserve ruling on a motion for mistrial until after the jury returns a verdict. Moreover, the Court held that a party moving for a mistrial may couple it with a request that a court reserve ruling on the motion. Id. at 909-10. As this Court explained, by honoring such a request, a trial court can often serve the goal of judicial economy. Specifically, a verdict could conceivably "cure" the error, saving the court the expenditure of additional time, money, and delay associated with a new trial. Id. at 910. In addition, this Court noted that the procedure could also operate to prohibit a wrongdoer from profiting from his intentional misconduct. As this Court stated:

Unfortunately, it is common practice for some trial attorneys to make prejudicial remarks during closing argument when the posture of his case is doubtful. In these instances, the opposing counsel is forced to make a motion for mistrial. The trial court will then order a new trial. Thus, the offending counsel has a second opportunity to try the case and the aggrieved party has little solace but the afforded remedy of beginning all over again. Now that it is clear that a trial judge may wait until after the jury deliberates before ruling on a motion for mistrial, the incentive to intentionally make prejudicial remarks during closing argument will be minimized.

<u>Id</u>. at 910.

The Court in Ed Ricke did refuse to change the general procedure that requires a motion for mistrial to preserve error "for appellate review." (emphasis The Court stated that unless the improper argument constituted added) fundamental error, a motion for mistrial must be made at the time the improper comment was made. It is noteworthy that the Court specifically referenced preservation for appellate review, however. It is also noteworthy that as previously discussed, at the time Ed Ricke was decided, fundamental error was described at least in some cases as error that resulted in the extinction of the right to a fair trial. In fact, as this Court noted in its Murphy decision, prior to that decision, different Florida courts had articulated different standards in addressing unobjected-to closing arguments including whether such arguments gravely impaired a calm and dispassionate consideration of the evidence and merits of the case, or whether the improper argument was, in effect, incurable. 766 So. 2d at 1027.

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